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Editorial

This June 2018 issue of Footprints focuses on the Parish of Fitzroy 
North, St Brigid’s. About 15–20 years ago, two large scrapbooks 1883–
1968 and 1968–1985, were donated to the Archdiocesan Archive. They 
now form the bulk of this issue. They have been lovingly compiled by the 
Parishioners and carefully preserved. The books themselves have been 
hand made. Considered by the Parish to be archival treasures, they have 
been placed in the Archdiocesan Archive. The scrapbooks present a folk 
history of the building of a parish. They illustrate parishioners, priests 
and nuns working together to create a community. Their legacy is visible 
in the buildings and the church works that support them. As an immigrant 
parish, St Brigid’s is a microcosm of the multicultural development of 
Melbourne. We have included a history of St Brigid’s compiled at the 
same time by Sister Camilla, to celebrate the Parish Centenary 1883–
1983. We acknowledge the dedicated work in this booklet.
	 I expect that the scrapbooks were created to store the vast amount of 
historical material that was gathered to write this history. It is likely that 
if these two chronologically arranged scrapbooks had not been created, 
the photographs, newspaper cuttings, documents and text therein, may 
have been scattered and lost over time. But they have been retained and 
we are lucky and grateful. I hope you enjoy them.

Rachel Naughton
Editor of this edition

Archivist’s Note on Scrapbooking:
As an Archivist, I would not recommend scrapbooking as a method 
for preservation. The glue is possibly acidic, the background paper 
could be also, nothing can be removed and the large size makes them 
difficult to store. They are also difficult to reproduce in a size that 
can be read easily. However they are a fascinating historical record.
	 Archival scrapbooks and archival glue do exist in specialist 
shops, and for anyone who is interested, are worth investigating.
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Faith-filled Pioneers: 1883–1983
Compiled by Sister Camila, assisted by Parish Priest, Father 
Anthony Fregolent, the Centenary Committee and many 
friends and donors from the parish and the area.
	 It is dedicated to the faithful and loyal parishioners of St 
Brigid’s living and dead.

In 1853 North Fitzroy was known as ‘The Quarries’ because of the number 
in the area. It also boasted a swamp north of Smith Street which was 
often submerged after heavy rains. While Collingwood was progressing 
as an industrial area, and expensive homes were being built in East 
Melbourne, the people of Fitzroy were waiting for someone to recognise 
their needs. Fortunately they had champions in the first committee 
of citizens elected in 1854. With determination and persistance, they 
persuaded the Government to pass the Fitzroy Ward Improvement Act, 
appropriating £50,000 for streets, drainage and sanitation improvements. 
It was one thing to have an act passed, but quite another to get money 
to implement its recommendations. However those early citizens were 
prepared to fight for their rights, and soon Fitzroy was transformed from 
a swampy bushland into a modern city.
	 Many of the settlers were church-going people of various faiths, and 
soon chapels and churches appeared, all denominations contributing to 
the cost of the buildings.
	 The fine buildings in use today bear witness to the faith of those early 
pioneers.
The Beginnings – 1869
Originally Fitzroy was part of the Cathedral Parish but because of 
distance and increasing numbers there was need for a more central place 
of worship. So, on 14 February 1869, the foundation stone of St Brigid’s 
was laid and within two years a small decorative Gothic church was built 
on the present site. A parchment scroll was placed in the cavity of the 
foundation stone and read:

On 12th October, 1873, Pius IX ruling the Church, James Gould, being 
Bishop of Melbourne and Sir George Bowen, Governor of the Colony, 
The Very Reverend Dean Donaghy assisted by Reverend W. Kelly, J.P. 
O’Sullivan and a large concourse of the faithful, laid the Foundation Stone 
of the chancel of St BRIGID’S, NORTH FITZROY … To all present and 
to all benefactors, health, true peace and happiness eternal. Amen

(A simple cross  marks the spot and can still be seen today.)
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In 1878 Fitzroy became a city. The number of Catholics in the district 
was increasing rapidly, so it became necessary to extend the nave of the 
church to its present length. At about the same time a school was set up 
in Kerr Street and later transferred to the Nicholson Street site.
	 On 10 January 1883, North Fitzroy was made a separate parish and 
Father McKenna appointed as first Parish Priest. During the years of his 
pastorate he built the presbytery, extended the church by adding side 
aisles and a vestry, and reconstructed the present school.
	 Until 1885, the priests had been living some distance from the church 
in houses situated in Brunswick Street (between the Cricket Ground and 
Alexandra Parade). The new presbytery was built in the Victorian style 
on the Nicholson Street site in close proximity to the church. Instead of 
the heavy stonework apparent today, the balconies were supported by 
slender pillars and delicate iron lacing. The verandahs were added by 
Father Parker in the late 1920s.
	 The early parishioners sacrificed much to provide the best possible 
buildings that would stand for many generations. One such building 
was the school-hall built in 1897; but on 10 February 1917 the hall was 
completely destroyed by fire – only the framework remained.
	 The present hall is somewhat different from the original (for example, the 
beautifully carved ceiling has been replaced by a simpler style), but in spite 
of changes in construction it is still the same great monument of 1897.
School and Convent
Originally the school was staffed by lay teachers. Then in 1886, in 
response to Dean McKenna’s request, the Sisters of Mercy from the 
Academy took charge of the Girls School while the boys were taught 
by lay teachers under a headmaster. In 1905 the Sisters of Mercy were 
replaced by the Good Samaritan Sisters who then took charge of both 
boys and girls in a co-educational school.
	 Until 1914 the Sisters travelled daily by cab from Northcote. In that 
year they took up residence in the cottage on the site of the convent. Early 
in 1918 the community moved to ‘Tara’, the brick villa at the corner of 
Newry and Nicholson Streets. On 20 October 1919 the foundation stone 
of the new convent in Alexandra Parade was laid by Archbishop Mannix, 
and in 1920 the Sisters – 15 in number – moved into their new home.
	 Father Parker then turned his attention to the school. At that time 
classes were conducted in the rooms attached to the hall, in a covered 
verandah on the York Street side of the hall, and in a temporary wooden 
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building (Infants’ School). With the growth of the area, the number 
of children attending the school increased to the stage where this 
accommodation became inadequate.
	 Land became available in York Street; so this was acquired as the site for 
a new school. In 1924, Father Parker’s dream of a really outstanding school 
was realised when the present red brick building was blessed and opened.
	 The new school was much more than the usual primary school of 
those days. It provided a Commercial Course and up to Second Year 
(Leaving) High School and it accommodated more than 1,000 pupils. In 
addition, music tuition was given in singing and several instruments. (It 
was sometimes referred to as a ‘mini University’.)
	 The Commercial Class continued until 1970 and the High School 
closed in 1974. The number of pupils has dropped to 200.
	 In July 1980, fire destroyed two classrooms and badly damaged others. 
The task of repairing the burnt-out part of the building was extended to 
refurbishing and updating the whole school.
St Mark’s Church – North Carlton
Geographically St Brigid’s is a large parish and the north-western section 
is a considerable distance from the parish church. The need for a ‘Chapel 
of Ease’ and a junior school was seen by Dr Kelly in 1907, and to provide 
these two facilities he purchased a block of land at the corner of Lygon 
and Patterson Streets, consisting of three allotments.
	 By 1935 the population had increased considerably and some money 
was available so the present Church-School was built, blessed and 
opened by Archbishop Mannix.
	 Until about 1970 it served as both church and school. Two Sisters from 
St Brigid’s had four classes there (Preps to Gr, IV). However, because of 
the change in the make-up of the population in the area, the number of 
children gradually dropped until there were not sufficient numbers for a 
school to function.
	 As a Church it serves well the purpose for which it was built. Most 
of the parishioners in Princes Hill are no longer young and as well as 
distance there are three main traffic arteries between there and St Brigid’s; 
so both the Sunday and the weekday Masses are well attended.
St Ita’s Central School
In 1930 two Central Schools were set up – one for boys and one for 
girls. The boys school was St Colman’s in the grounds of St Patrick’s 
School, Fitzroy; the girls’ was at St Brigid’s and known as St Ita’s with 
Sr Emilian in charge.
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	 Forty scholarships were offered by the Archbishop each year and were 
allotted to students gaining highest marks in an examination that was 
open to 7th Grade pupils in Victorian Catholic schools. The Diocesan 
Scholarships, as they were called, entitled the holder to one year’s 
special training at the Central School for a highly competitive Junior 
Government Scholarship examination. The Government Scholarship 
covered four year’s tuition at a High School and was a much sought-after 
award. The Central Schools operated very successfully until 1967 when 
the Government allotted its Scholarships on a per capita basis instead of 
in an open competitive examination; the Central Schools were then no 
longer needed and St Ita’s closed.
	 In its 37 years of existence St Ita’s helped hundreds of girls to gain 
Junior Government Scholarships which entitled them to four year’s high 
school education.

Parish Priests
Dean Maurice McKenna: Appointed to St Brigid’s as first resident 
pastor on 10 January 1883 and held that position till 1892. He built the 
presbytery, reconstructed the schools and extended the church.
Rt Rev. Thomas Lynch: Pastor from 1892–94; he planned new schools but 
transferred to St Francis before he could carry out his plans. He reduced 
the parish debt to the extent that his successor could proceed with the new 
buildings. After 63 years as a priest he died on 20 December 1941.
Rev. Edward J. Kelly: Born at Gawler, Sth Australia, in 1857 and was 
educated at St Patrick’s, East Melbourne. He studied for the priesthood 
in Rome and returned to Melbourne in 1885. During his pastorate from 
1894–1918, he built the hall in 1897 and purchased land at Princes Hill 
where St Mark’s now stands. He wrote for the paper ‘Austral Light’ and 
was co-founder of A.C.T.S. He died at St Brigid’s on 7 January 1918.
Rev. Patrick M. Parker: Born in Ireland and a man of vision and deep faith. 
He was appointed to St Brigid’s in January 1919. Between 1920 and 1924 
he built the convent, the school and enlarged the presbytery. Before coming 
to St Brigid’s he had successfully carried out the mammoth task of raising 
funds to build Newman College. He died on 5 May 1933 at St Brigid’s.
Rev. David Gleeson: Born in Ballyrack, Co. Kerry, in 1872 and ordained in 
1898. He served in the Archdiocese of Melbourne for 50 years, 14 of which 
were spent at St Brigid’s. He died on 10 May 1947 at St Brigid’s.
Rev. Anthony Rohan: Born in Tipperary in 1881 and arrived in 
Melbourne in 1908. He came to St Brigid’s in 1947 where he died, after 
only three years, on 29 June 1950.
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Rev. Thomas Little: Born at Bacchus Marsh in 1881 and received his 
education from the Sisters of St Joseph and St Patrick’s College, Ballarat. 
He was ordained in St Mary’s Cathedral, Sydney, in 1915 and died at 
Caritas Christi on 9 July 1969. The City of Fitzroy honoured him by 
naming the reserve in Alexandra Parade ‘The Father Little Reserve’ and 
the marble altar in the church, presented to him by the parishioners on the 
occasion of his Golden Jubilee, is a memorial to a well loved pastor.
Rev. John Raccanello: Born in Crespano del Grappa, Treviso, in May 
1928 and ordained to the priesthood in 1952. He was appointed Parish 
Priest of St Brigid’s in 1968. His appointment began a new era in the 
administration of the parish in that he had with him a small group of 
his fellow Scalabrinian Fathers – a missionary order. In 1971 Father 
Raccanello was appointed to assist the Central Committee concerned 
with the Pastoral Renewal (Migrant Section) in preparation for the 
Eucharistic Congress which was held in Melbourne in 1973.
Rev. John Mello: Born in Treviso in 1936; ordained in March 1962 
and was appointed Parish Priest of St Brigid’s in 1971. He continued Fr 
Raccanello’s task of implementing the changes in the liturgy following 
Vatican II, including adapting the sanctuary to the new liturgy.
Rev. Francis Lovatin: Born in the Province of Verona; he arrived in 
Australia in 1958 and succeeded Fr Mello 1979. He was responsible for 
extensive maintenance and improvements at both churches.
Rev. Titian Martellozzo: Born in the Province of Padova in 1928 and 
was appointed Parish Priest of St Brigid’s in January 1981. He was 
responsible for the restoration of the school and church as well as major 
repair work at the presbytery.
Rev. Anthony Fregolent: Born in Sernaglia della Battaglia (Treviso) 
in 1944 and ordained in 1969, he was appointed Parish Priest of St 
Brigid’s in January 1983. Prior to this appointment he was editor of 
‘Il Messaggero’ the monthly magazine for Italian families in Australia. 
Since 1975, he has cooperated with Ethnic Radio 3EA for religious 
programing, and will continue with this work. His apostolate also took 
him to Alphington and Bulleen parishes.
The Scalabrinians
Towards the end of Fr Little’s pastorate the parish underwent a complete 
change in composition and character.
	 Many migrants had settled in the Carlton/Fitzroy area, the largest 
ethnic group being Italian. There was clearly a need for Italian-speaking 



FOOTPRINTS	 8	 June 2018

priests to minister to these people and to help them adjust to a new 
way of life in a strange land. Recognising this need, Archbishop Knox 
invited the Scalabrinian Order to take charge of St Brigid’s following the 
retirement of Fr Little in 1968.
	 The Scalabrinian Order is a missionary congregation which was 
formed in Italy for the purpose of going abroad to care for the spiritual 
and temporal needs of those who had left their homeland to settle in a 
new country. As migrants, the Fathers fully understand the problems 
facing these fellow migrants, and so are eminently suitable to cope with 
the ethnic situation in North Fitzroy and Carlton. As priests of the parish 
their apostolate is not confined to the ‘new’ Australians; they look after 
the ‘old’ ones no less zealously and have integrated both groups into one 
family unit.
	 During their time in the parish, all buildings have been restored and 
updated so that after 100 years and many changes (the Reilly Street Drain 
is now the F19 Freeway), these buildings form an imposing monument to 
the sacrifices and dedication of priests and laity who built and maintained 
them.
The Convent, now the Catholic Italian Renewal Centre
As in other parishes, the number of teaching sisters living at the convent 
had dwindled, until in 1979 the building was too large for the few 
remaining sisters. On 17 March the sisters vacated the convent in a 
response to a request to use it to further the Apostolate to the migrant 
within the Archdiocese of Melbourne. It is now known as the Catholic 
Intercultural Resource Centre or Catholic Italian Renewal Centre.
	 It provides many facilities for migrants including Prayer Meetings for 
chaplains and lay people. The Book Shop contains books of a catholic 
nature, tapes on scripture and other books pertaining to the various 
cultures of migrant groups.
	 At the rear of the building are two small offices where queries 
concerning Social Services, Pensions, Compensations, Translations, etc. 
are attended to by two competent people
	 Upstairs are the offices of the Natural Family Planning of Drs Lyn 
and John Billings. Weekends are also provided for Engaged and Young 
Married Couples.
	 On 1 February 1983 part of the balcony was renovated and 
transformed into a workable area for the Catholic Charismatic Renewal 
Centre of Victoria.
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	 Finally, the Association of Teachers in Victorian Catholic Schools has 
occupied a couple of rooms in the building. These Associations support 
and represent teachers in all aspects of their working life.
	 And so for seven days a week the Centre is a hive of industry.
Variety is the spice of life
All things change … perhaps the most common of all is our Melbourne 
weather. So why not our parish? It’s been going for 100 years.
	 One aspect is the Sunday English Mass. Here one sees a sprinkling 
of Australian born, quite a number of Italian born and second generation 
Italians, a handful of Maltese, Yugoslav, Vietnamese and other 
nationalities. Some of the Carlton children from the flats attend this Mass 
– with the Sisters of Mother Teresa after Mass proceed to the classroom 
for Religious Instruction and Preparation for the Sacraments. Our own 
school children are conspicuous by their absence; the reason for this is 
that most live in other parishes. Their parents work around the city of 
Carlton and Fitzroy. Then the children from the flats … why cross the 
dangerous freeway when the state school is in the same ground? Also 
there are very few young families in the parish.
	 Finally a word of admiration for those devout elderly migrant ladies 
who come to the morning Mass rain, hail or shine despite the difficulty 
of language. They have not learned nor had the opportunity to learn the 
language like other members in the family who go out to work, so they 
suffer a great loneliness because of their inability to communicate. Yet, 
through all the change in Church Liturgy, culture and language, they 
show great fidelity and quiet, peaceful presence before their Lord. For 
many of them a little exchange of a smile or a word is their only contact 
throughout the long day.
	 So at St Brigid’s there are the poor, the lonely, the elderly – the poor 
of Christ. If St Brigid’s Parish was not open to serve them in their need, 
where would they go?
	 And so ‘the wheel has come full circle, and St Brigid’s continues to 
open its doors to all comers.

1983



FOOTPRINTS	 10	 June 2018

Fitzroy North St Brigid’s 
Parish History:1883–1968



FOOTPRINTS	 11	 June 2018

Text enlarged from 
opposite page.



FOOTPRINTS	 12	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 13	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 14	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 15	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 16	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 17	 June 2018

Text enlarged from 
opposite page.



FOOTPRINTS	 18	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 19	 June 2018

Text enlarged from 
opposite page.



FOOTPRINTS	 20	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 21	 June 2018

Text and cross 
enlarged from 
opposite page.



FOOTPRINTS	 22	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 23	 June 2018

Text enlarged from opposite page over next two pages.



FOOTPRINTS	 24	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 25	 June 2018

Above text enlarged.



FOOTPRINTS	 26	 June 2018

Text enlarged from 
previous page.



FOOTPRINTS	 27	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 28	 June 2018

Text enlarged from previous page.



FOOTPRINTS	 29	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 30	 June 2018

Text enlarged from 
opposite page.

Text enlarged from previous page.



FOOTPRINTS	 31	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 32	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 33	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 34	 June 2018



FOOTPRINTS	 35	 June 2018

Text enlarged from previous three pages.



FOOTPRINTS	 36	 June 2018

Fitzroy North St Brigid’s Parish 
A Migrant Parish 1968–1985
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